FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 5/30/2024 4:10 PM

No.

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/4/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

Case	#:	1031	408
------	----	------	-----

Court of Appeals No. 57873-5-II

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

EAGLE HARDWARE & GARDEN, INC. d/b/a LOWE'S COMPANIES, INC., a North Carolina Corporation, KUEIFOUN, INC. d/b/a THE HERBAL GARDEN, a Floria Corporation, THE CENTER AT 4815 LLC, a Washington limited liability company, and OGLE PROPERTIES, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioners,

v.

MAJID NAYERI and BITA ABIDAN,

Respondents.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. INTRODUCTION

This petition asks whether a real estate speculator can leverage Washington's private condemnation statute to gain access to a parcel that he knew would become landlocked as a result of his purchase.

Respondents Majid Nayeri and Bita Abidian (together "Nayeri") purchased property from the Washington State Department of Transportation ("WSDOT") subject to the condition that WSDOT would not allow access through the remainder of its adjoining property, making the purchased properties "landlocked." As a result, Nayeri¹ received a deeply discounted purchase price – \$300,000 less than WSDOT valued the same land a decade earlier. He also knew that he would need to find a different access route.

-

¹ Although both Nayeri and Bita Abidian are named parties, Nayeri testified that Abidian does not play any role in the couple's investments. CP 167. For simplicity, this briefing refers to both parties as "Nayeri." No disrespect is intended.

Nayeri was unsuccessful in securing a voluntary easement from WSDOT or any of the other neighboring property owners, despite efforts both before and after the purchase. He now seeks to improve the return on his investment by condemning access under chapter 8.24 RCW.

Nayeri's claim is contrary to this Court's decision in *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012), which prevents a property owner from landlocking himself and then condemning access. The trial court correctly dismissed his suit on summary judgment. The Court of Appeals improperly reversed, distinguishing *Ruvalcaba*.

Petitioners ask this Court to reverse the Court of Appeals decision and reinstate the grant of summary judgment. The Court should hold, as a matter of law, that a party cannot buy property he knows is or will be landlocked and then condemn access through an alternative route.

II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are The Center at 4815 LLC and Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc., d/b/a Lowe's Companies, Inc. (together the "Petitioners").

III. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioners seek review of the published decision by the Court of Appeals, Division Two, dated April 30, 2024, attached at Appendix 1.

IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Can a party purchase a portion of an existing parcel that he knows will become landlocked as a result of the purchase and, having failed to secure access either before or after the purchase, privately condemn an easement across neighboring properties?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. The Nayeri Property is an undeveloped parcel that WSDOT surplussed following a highway project.

The property at issue is made up of two undeveloped parcels (parcel numbers 6135000227 and 6135000228) (the "Nayeri Property") sandwiched between SR-16 and several

adjoining properties. See CP 11, 385. Each of the non-WSDOT parcels is improved with commercial facilities. To the north is a Lowe's retail store, operated by Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc. CP 11. Three parcels are directly south, two of which are owned by Kueifoun, Inc., doing business as The Herbal Garden (the "Kueifoun Property"), CP 185-86; the other is owned by The Center at 4815 LLC, which leases to an engineering firm, Sitts & Hill Engineers, Inc., which is owned by the same persons (the "Center Property"), CP 536. To the west is a parcel formerly owned by Ogle Properties, LLC (the "Ogle Property"). See CP 365. The WSDOT property sits to the east and is occupied by an CP 11. The various properties and offramp for SR-16. ownership interests are shown below (see CP 409):



In the early 2000s, WSDOT had targeted the Nayeri Property as part of the development of the SR-16 interchange. CP 43-44. At the time, the property was owned by Leeanne Deering-Davis, *see* CP 127, who also owned the three parcels to the south of the Nayeri Property, CP 535.

Over multiple years, WSDOT and Deering-Davis discussed condemnation of the Nayeri Property. CP 38-40. One key point was the project's impact on access – because the new interchange required removing the local surface street, Mullen

Street, access to the Nayeri Property would be limited. CP 38, 49. In the course of discussions, WSDOT recognized the impact reduced access would have on property value and, as a result, reduced its valuation by as much as 85 percent. CP 50. An appraisal prepared for Deering-Davis also confirmed that WSDOT's elimination of Mullen Street would "remove all practical physical access to the site, rendering the site unbuildable" and therefore resulting in a "complete take." CP 87. Deering-Davis's appraisal valued the property before WSDOT's acquisition at \$352,000. CP 68.

WSDOT ultimately agreed to compensate Deering-Davis for the lost access. In its settlement memorandum, WSDOT's negotiation supervisor concluded that the Nayeri Property would "become[] uneconomic in the after condition because it looses [sic] all access along Mullen Street." CP 123. WSDOT conceded that a jury would award Deering-Davis her appraised value, CP 124, and on that basis provided \$800,115 in total

settlement value² to Deering-Davis, CP 123. Deering-Davis deeded the Nayeri Property to WSDOT in 2005. CP 127-29.

Following construction of the SR-16 offramp, WSDOT determined that the property should be sold as surplus. CP 131-32, 134-35. WSDOT's surplus review noted that the Nayeri Property was "an uneconomic remainder" with "no direct access to SR 16." CP 131. WSDOT initially offered to sell the property to abutting property owners for \$122,800, with the caveat that direct access to Mullen Street (now the SR 16 offramp) "will be prohibited." CP 134. No abutting owner was interested.

B. Nayeri purchased the property as an investment knowing he lacked legal access.

Majid Nayeri is a self-described "real estate investor." CP 151-52. He began investing in real estate nearly two decades ago when, concerned with his dwindling 401(k), he decided to purchase several properties in California. CP 152. He has since

-7-

² The value also took into consideration the loss in value caused by the elimination of Mullen Street to Ms. Deering's three remaining parcels.

bought and sold a couple hundred properties throughout the country, CP 151, and currently holds upwards of 80 individual parcels, CP 155. Only one of the properties Nayeri has purchased is developed; the rest are "vacant land," nearly all in residential areas. CP 153-54. Nayeri treats these properties as commodities to buy and sell, CP 154, and claims to have profited between \$500,000 and \$1 million, CP 163.

To find investment properties, Nayeri looks at the Multiple Listing Service as well as land investment sites and online postings by departments of transportation. CP 155-56.

In 2015, Nayeri found WSDOT's advertisement for the subject property. CP 164. He spent a few weeks investigating, CP 173, to learn more about the property and Tacoma's vacant land market. CP 164. Nayeri has never physically visited the property but had a realtor look in person, who advised that the properties were "the ugliest land he had seen" due to the topography. CP 165-66, 439-40. Through that investigation,

Nayeri learned that the property would have no legal egress or ingress. CP 174-75, 187.

Nayeri ultimately purchased the property in September 2015. As part of the purchase agreement, Nayeri conceded he could not access the property from the WSDOT parcel, thereby landlocking the property. CP 177. The purchase price reflected the lack of access – \$46,300, a reduction of over \$300,000 compared to the valuation ten years earlier. CP 235-36.

On the same day he purchased the property for \$46,300, Nayeri listed the property for sale for \$650,000. CP 441. The property is presently assessed for tax purposes for a total of \$43,500. CP 441.

C. Nayeri unsuccessfully attempted to negotiate access through adjacent properties.

Having severed one portion of WSDOT's property from the remainder that had access to a right-of-way, Nayeri landlocked himself and went about finding alternative access. Either before or immediately after purchasing the property, Nayeri contacted the owner of the adjacent Ogle Property. CP 178.³ Although that owner was open to granting an easement if her neighbor was also willing to take part in that discussion, CP 179, Nayeri was unable to reach any agreement with either the Ogle Property owner or the neighbor. CP 179-80.

After that initial failed attempt, Nayeri tried other options. He reached out to WSDOT, which confirmed that it "will <u>not</u> allow any access to any portion of the SR 16 right-of-way." CP 248 (emphasis in original). Nayeri's hardest push, however, was to gain access through the Lowe's property. In 2018, Nayeri retained several consultants to identify whether a route through Lowe's was possible. Lowe's ultimately rejected his proposal.

Before filing this lawsuit, Nayeri had a survey prepared that identified three theoretical access points, although without further explanation as to their viability. CP 365. Access point #1

³ Nayeri's testimony suggests that he contacted the Ogle Property owner before his purchase. *See* CP 178 ("I recall that I contacted – maybe even beforehand had contacted Ogle Properties to get an easement.") The exact timing is less important, however, than Nayeri's unambiguous testimony that he knew that the property would be landlocked at the time of purchase. CP 174-75.

was through the Lowe's parking lot to the north; access point #2 was through the Kueifoun Property to the south, with a dogleg through the Center Property before reaching Center Street; access point #3 would extend directly through the entirety of the Center Property. CP 365.

Nayeri also prepared additional reports addressing access, each of which focused exclusively on the Lowe's route. A traffic impact analysis attempted to assess the potential effect on Lowe's of a theoretical 10,000-square-foot office building on the Nayeri Property. CP 265. That value was determined to be \$10,000, CP 288, but the report made no effort to determine the impact related to Nayeri's two other proposed routes. Similarly, an appraisal attempted to determine the market value of "the fee simple interest" of the Lowe's Property if Nayeri acquired 990 square feet from that site, which accounts only for four parking spaces Lowe's would lose to an access route as opposed to the entire route of the easement through the Lowe's property,

including improvements like sidewalks, bike lane, and landscaping. CP 292.

D. Nayeri filed suit to condemn a private way of necessity, which was dismissed by the trial court but revived by the Court of Appeals.

Nayeri ultimately failed to secure access. To force the issue, he filed this suit in April 2021 against each adjoining private landowner, seeking a private way of necessity under chapter 8.24 RCW. CP 1-9.⁴

On summary judgment, The Center and Lowe's argued that Nayeri could not demonstrate the "reasonable necessity" required for condemnation under this Court's decision in *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012). CP 432-26, 528. As explained below, that case held on summary judgment that the would-be condemnors could not

⁴ Nayeri voluntarily dismissed his claims against The Center only to later re-assert those claims, apparently in response to a demand from Lowe's. *See* RP (Jan. 6, 2023) 5. Ogle Properties was dismissed and has not been pulled back into this matter. *See* CP 483. Kueifoun, Inc. never responded to the lawsuit, but Nayeri never sought an order of default or default judgment.

establish reasonable necessity as matter of law after they had landlocked their own property and turned the purpose of the statute on its head.

The Superior Court granted the motion and dismissed Nayeri's claims against all defendants. CP 587-89. The Court of Appeals reversed, in part distinguishing *Ruvalcaba*, concluding that "knowing purchase of landlocked property *alone* should not be the basis for summary judgment" and that "Nayeri bought landlocked property; he did not landlock it himself." Appendix 1 at 13. The court also suggested that it made a difference that he waited only a couple years before seeking to condemn access, rather than the decades at issue in *Ruvalcaba*. Appendix 1 at 13.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. To Condemn a Private Way of Necessity, the Condemnor Must Show "Reasonable Necessity" Based on the Totality of Circumstances.

The starting place for property rights in Washington is a broad constitutional protection: Wash. Const. art. I, § 16 (amend.

9). Carved from that protection, a limited exception allows for private ways of necessity: "Private property shall not be taken for private use, except for private ways of necessity" *Id*. To carry out that exception, the legislature established a cause of action under chapter 8.24 RCW, by which a landlocked property owner can condemn a private way of necessary:

An owner, or one entitled to the beneficial use, of land which is so situate with respect to the land of another that it is necessary for its proper use and enjoyment to have and maintain a private way of necessity . . . may condemn and take lands of such other sufficient in area for the construction and maintenance of such private way of necessity.

RCW 8.24.010. The purpose of both the constitutional exception and statute is to provide a remedy for landlocked property, based on a policy goal of allowing land to be put to use. *Ruvalcaba*, 175 Wn.2d at 6, 8.

In carrying out that statute, courts have enforced clear limits. This Court has emphasized that a condemnee's interests cannot be "lightly regarded or swept away merely to serve the

convenience or advantage of a stranger." *Brown v. McAnally*, 97 Wn.2d 360, 370, 644 P.2d 1153 (1982). The condemnation statute is "not favored" and therefore must be "construed strictly," to protect the condemned property owner's "constitutional right to the protection of one's property." *Id*.

A condemned way of necessity must "be reasonably necessary under the facts of the case, as distinguished from merely convenient or advantageous." Ruvalcaba, 175 Wn.2d at 7 (quoting *Brown*, 97 Wn.2d at 367). In assessing reasonable necessity, the reviewing court must consider "the entire situation." State v. Gilliam, 163 Wash. 111, 113, 300 P.173 (1931). It is the condemnor's burden to prove reasonable necessity. Ruvalcaba, 175 Wn.2d at 7. It is not sufficient for the condemnor to merely claim that condemnation is necessary to provide ingress and egress. Other factors must be considered in evaluating "reasonable necessity." State v. Superior Ct. for Chehalis County, 82 Wash. 503, 508, 144 P. 722 (1914) (emphasis added).

Under Washington law, whether condemnation is reasonable involves many factors:

'does not mean an absolute and unconditional necessity, as determined by physical causes, but a reasonable necessity, under the circumstances of the particular case, dependent upon the practicability of another route [here another location], considered in connection with the relative cost to one, and probable injury to the other.

Samish River Boom Co. v. Union Boom Co., 32 Wash. 586, 600, 73 P. 670 (1903) (emphasis added); see also Dreger v. Sullivan, 46 Wn.2d 36, 40, 278 P.2d 647 (1955) (applying the discussion of "reasonable necessity" from Samish River to private condemnation under 8.24 RCW). One necessary consideration "is the injury to the property across which the right of way is sought." State v. Gilliam, 163 Wash. 111, 300 P. 173 (1931).

To show reasonable necessity, the condemnor must also provide a development plan, because "without some definite stated plan of improvement, this necessity cannot be shown." *Port of Everett v. Everett Imp. Co.*, 124 Wash. 486, 494, 214 P. 1064 (1923). Without that detail, it is impossible to know

whether the condemner's imagined purpose could be achieved or is reasonably necessary.

Another requirement is consideration of the burden placed on the condemnee's property. Chapter 8.24 RCW requires courts to give "considerable weight" to the condemnee's burden. *Wagle v. Williamson*, 61 Wn. App. 474, 481, 810 P.2d 1372 (1991). For a proposed route to be appropriate it "must not differ from and must not be incompatible with the use to which it is already being put by the condemnees." *Brown*, 97 Wn.2d at 368.

B. Nayeri Cannot Establish "Reasonable Necessity" Under this Court's Decision in Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek.

This Court addressed reasonable necessity in *Ruvalcaba*, concluding that a condemnor's inequitable conduct, including voluntarily landlocking themselves, precludes a finding of reasonable necessity as a matter of law. The Ruvalcabas owned a parcel that originally could be accessed directly from 42nd Avenue Northeast. *Ruvalcaba*, 175 Wn.2d at 4. They later sold the eastern portion of the parcel, retaining only a western portion

that had no access to a right-of-way. *Id.*⁵ Thirty-five years later, the Ruvalcabas petitioned for a private way of necessity to a different right-of-way, Northeast 135th Street, which required a route crossing multiple parcels, claiming that they had not learned until only three years before filing suit that the landlocked parcel was suitable to build a residence.⁶ *Id.* They also alleged that the portion of their property with access to 42nd Avenue included a steep slope that made it impracticable to build a roadway, although this access issue was in dispute. *Id.* at 4-5.

On appeal from summary judgment, the Court of Appeals held that there was a question of fact as to whether the Ruvalcabas could establish reasonable necessity. *Ruvalcaba*, 159 Wn. App. at 712. The court concluded there were facts that could show why the Ruvalcabas had a reasonable need for

-

⁵ Before completing the sale, the Ruvalcabas had tried to obtain easements sufficient to reach 135th Street, but obtained only some of the needed agreements. *Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek*, 159 Wn. App. 702, 706, 247 P.3d 1 (2011), *rev'd*, 175 Wn.2d 1. ⁶ The owners of the severed portion of the Ruvalcabas' property were also joined. *Ruvalcaba*, 159 Wn. App. at 707.

condemnation, including that the availability and value of their property may have dramatically changed and impacted economic feasibility of constructing a road, and the costs and techniques for building up steep slopes may have improved, especially in relation to land value. *Id.* Moreover, the court expressly rejected the condemnees' proposal for a "clean hands" requirement, which would have prevented operation of chapter 8.24 RCW for a landowner who voluntarily landlocks his or her own property. *Ruvalcaba*, 159 Wn. App. at 711.

This Court unanimously reversed. This Court rejected the Court of Appeals' suggestion that a condemnor need not have clean hands, explaining that the Ruvalcabas' action was "a flagrant abuse of the reasonable necessity doctrine" that "essentially turn[ed] our stated public policy goal [against making landlocked property useless] on its head." *Ruvalcaba*, 175 Wn.2d at 8. And although this Court declined to apply a bright-line rule that would automatically prevent condemnation whenever a landowner had become voluntarily landlocked her

property – noting that such a ruling "would reach further than the facts that have presented in this case" – it had no trouble concluding that "no reasonable finder of fact could find that there was reasonable necessity" for the Ruvalcabas' proposed condemnation. *Id.* at 8.

Here, Nayeri is in a position legally identical to the Ruvalcabas. He came to the Nayeri Property with full knowledge that, after his purchase, it would be landlocked without legal access to any neighboring right-of-way. CP 174-75, 187. He benefited from that lack of access in the form of a massively reduced purchase price – more than \$300,000 less than what WSDOT had paid a decade earlier. *Compare* CP 68 (valuing the Nayeri Property at \$352,000), *with* CP 236 (purchasing Nayeri Property for \$46,300). Nayeri's leverage of the private condemnation statute is therefore precisely the type of "flagrant abuse of the reasonable necessity doctrine" that, if allowed, would "erode[] the protections for private property."

under the Washington Constitution and "will not be tolerated" under *Ruvalcaba*, 175 Wn. 2d at 8.

The situation is particularly troublesome because Nayeri does not even pretend to be using the statute for its intended purpose of putting property to use. As is clear from his lack of even a vague development plan, Nayeri is simply leveraging private condemnation for his immediate self-enrichment, to bolster "the dwindling portfolio that [he] had in [his] 401(k)." CP 152. His method is to take advantage of his neighbors: after purchasing property at a deep discount – which he knew would lack access because of that same purchase – he hopes to increase that property's value in a way that places severe limits on a neighboring property.

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