FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
7/12/2024 1:46 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

## No. 103140-8

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

# MAJID NAYERI and BITA ABIDIAN, Respondents,

v.

EAGLE HARDWARE & GARDEN, INC. d/b/a LOWE'S COMPANIES, INC., a North Carolina Corporation, KUEIFOUN, INC. d/b/a THE HERBAL GARDEN, a Florida Corporation, THE CENTER AT 4815 LLC, a Washington limited liability company, and OGLE PROPERTIES, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Petitioners.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

HOLMQUIST & GARDINER PLLC

SMITH GOODFRIEND, P.S.

Introduction.		
. Restatement of the Case		
1. Respondent Majid Nayeri purchased landlocked property and initiated this private condemnation action to obtain a right of way after negotiations with his neighbors proved fruitless	3	
2. The Court of Appeals reversed summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Nayeri's private condemnation action, holding the trial court ignored unresolved factual disputes that require a trial	7	
Why Review Should Be Denied		
1. Division Two correctly applied this Court's decision in <i>Ruvalcaba</i> by holding that Mr. Nayeri is not precluded from private condemnation as a matter of law because he knowingly purchased landlocked property	.11	
	<ol> <li>Respondent Majid Nayeri purchased landlocked property and initiated this private condemnation action to obtain a right of way after negotiations with his neighbors proved fruitless.</li> <li>The Court of Appeals reversed summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Nayeri's private condemnation action, holding the trial court ignored unresolved factual disputes that require a trial.</li> <li>Division Two correctly applied this Court's decision in Ruvalcaba by holding that Mr. Nayeri is not precluded from private condemnation as a matter of law because he knowingly purchased</li> </ol>	

2.	Division Two did not create a
	conflict with this Court's precedent
	by holding factual questions
	regarding Mr. Nayeri's planned
	development and potential
	burdens on the petitioners could
	not be resolved on summary
	judgment20
3.	Division Two's decision reaffirms the overriding public policy that landlocked property should not be rendered useless and thus it does not involve an issue of substantial public interest warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4)26
Con	clusion34

D.

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Page(s)
CASES
Beeson v. Phillips, 41 Wn. App. 183, 702 P.2d 1244 (1985)22
Brown v. McAnally, 97 Wn.2d 360, 644 P.2d 1153 (1982)22, 25
Childers v. Quartz Creek Land Co., 946 P.2d 534 (Colo. App. 1997), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1104 (1999)14
Diversified Indus. Dev. Corp. v. Ripley, 82 Wn.2d 811, 514 P.2d 137 (1973)28
Dovetail Props., Inc. v. Herron, 287 Ga. App. 808, 652 S.E.2d 856 (2007)14
<i>Graff v. Scanlan</i> , 673 A.2d 1028 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1996)14
Jones v. Ransom, 184 P.3d 561 (Okla. Civ. App. 2008)14
Lewis Cnty. v. State, 178 Wn. App. 431, 315 P.3d 550 (2013)28
Lutz v. Buffington, No. 32878-3-III, 2016 WL 821327 (Mar. 2, 2016), rev. denied, 186 Wn.2d 1011 (2016)30
Nayeri v. Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc., Wn. App. 2d, 548 P.3d 214 (2024)passim

Noble v. Safe Harbor Family Preservation Tr., 167 Wn.2d 11, 216 P.3d 1007 (2009)21
Port of Everett v. Everett Improvement Co., 124 Wash. 486, 214 P. 1064 (1923)25
Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek, 175 Wn.2d 1, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012)passim
Woodward v. Lopez, 174 Wn. App. 460, 300 P.3d 417 (2013)24
STATUTES
RCW 8.24.01012, 21, 25
RCW 8.24.03029, 31
CONSTITUITONAL PROVISIONS
Const. art. I, §1611, 19, 22
RULES AND REGULATIONS
GR 14.130
RAP 13.4passim

## A. Introduction.

After purchasing landlocked property from the Department of Transportation, respondent Majid Nayeri spent years negotiating with his neighbors—including the petitioners here, Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc. (Lowe's) and The Center at 4815 LLC (the Center)—to obtain an easement for legal ingress and egress to the property. When it became clear those negotiations had stalled, Mr. Nayeri initiated this private condemnation action under RCW 8.24.010 seeking a private right of way by necessity. The trial court granted the petitioners' motion for summary judgment despite acknowledging unresolved factual questions regarding the feasibility of development on the property, the location and scope of an easement, and potential burdens on neighboring properties.

The Court of Appeals, Division Two, reversed in a published decision, holding that "a buyer's knowledge that a property is landlocked at purchase does not automatically

bar private condemnation under chapter 8.24 RCW" and that Mr. Nayeri presented sufficient evidence to defeat summary judgment regarding the feasibility of an easement and future development of the property. *Nayeri v. Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc.*, \_\_\_ Wn. App. 2d \_\_\_, 548 P.3d 214, 222, ¶31 & 224-25, ¶¶42-48 (2024).¹

The petitioners now seek this Court's review, arguing Division Two's decision conflicts with *Ruvalcaba v*. *Kwang Ho Baek*, 175 Wn.2d 1, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012), which they argue "prevents a property owner from landlocking himself and then condemning access." (Pet. 2) Far from conflicting with *Ruvalcaba*, Division Two reaffirmed this Court's rejection of "a bright-line rule that would 'automatically preclude[] a private way of necessity any time a landowner voluntarily landlocks [their] own parcel." Op. at 222, ¶32 (quoting *Ruvalcaba*, 175 Wn.2d at

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This answer cites to Division Two's opinion as published in the Pacific Reporter as "Op. \_\_\_."

7-8, ¶10) (alterations in original). Division Two's decision also preserved the public interest by reinforcing the "overriding public policy goal against making landlocked property useless." *Ruvalcaba*, 175 Wn.2d at 8, ¶11.

By asking this Court to accept review and hold that purchasers of landlocked property must be stuck with it, the petitioners urge the Court to upend the public policy supporting private condemnation and adopt a bright-line rule identical to the one it already rejected in *Ruvalcaba*. This Court should deny review.

#### **B.** Restatement of the Case.

1. Respondent Majid Nayeri purchased landlocked property and initiated this private condemnation action to obtain a right of way after negotiations with his neighbors proved fruitless.

This case involves two undeveloped parcels comprising roughly one acre near the intersection of Center Street and SR-16 in Tacoma, Washington (the

Property). (CP 254-56) It is undisputed that the Property has no ingress or egress and is "landlocked." (CP 435, 479)

In May 2005, the Washington State Department of Transportation purchased the Property under threat of condemnation in order to construct the SR-16 offramp that intersects with Center Street. Op. at 217, ¶6; (CP 38-40, 43-35, 127-29). In January 2007, the Department posted the Property for sale as surplus when the SR-16 project was complete, concluding the Property was suitable for "[f]uture economic commercial development." (CP 131-32); Op. at 218, ¶9.

In 2015, respondent Majid Nayeri purchased the Property. Op. at 218, ¶9. Mr. Nayeri understood the Property was landlocked, so his first priority was acquiring "egress/ingress access from one of the neighbors." (CP 174-75); Op. at 218, ¶¶9-10. The neighboring property owners included petitioners Eagle Hardware & Garden, Inc.

(Lowe's) and The Center at 4815 LLC (Center), as well as the Kueifoun corporation:



Op. at 218.

Mr. Nayeri negotiated with his neighbors for several years, hoping to "work[] something out without going to court." (CP 201) Mr. Nayeri went to great lengths to appease his neighbors' concerns, including by soliciting—

at Lowe's request (CP 201)—several formal studies of the Property. This included a survey study to determine the feasibility of different potential access points (CP 365, 479-80), a traffic impact analysis based on anticipated development (CP 252-83, 480-81), an appraisal of the market value impact to Lowe's property from a potential easement (CP 285-364), and a geotechnical engineering report of the Property. (CP 367-89)

Despite years of negotiating for an easement, it became clear to Mr. Nayeri that Lowe's "was dragging its feet" (CP 201-02) and that he had no choice but to sue the neighboring property owners under RCW 8.24 for "an order establishing a private way of necessity" across any of the adjacent properties. (CP 1-9); Op. at 218, ¶10.

2. The Court of Appeals reversed summary judgment dismissal of Mr. Nayeri's private condemnation action, holding the trial court ignored unresolved factual disputes that require a trial.

In April 2021, Mr. Nayeri initiated this private condemnation action seeking a private way of necessity easement across one of the Lowe's, Center, or Kueifoun properties to accommodate a 10,000 square foot general office building he intended to develop on the Property. (CP 1-9, 481); Op. at 218, ¶11.

In December 2022, the petitioners—Lowe's and the Center—moved for summary judgment. Op. at 218, ¶12. The petitioners argued that a private right of way easement was not "reasonably necessary" because regulatory requirements in the municipal code and certain geological characteristics purportedly precluded "development of any kind" on the Property. (CP 446, 449); Op. at 218-19, ¶12. The petitioners also argued that Mr. Nayeri should be precluded from seeking a private right of way easement as

a matter of law because "he knew the parcels were landlocked when he bought them." Op. at 219, ¶13.

Mr. Nayeri argued that whether he was entitled to a private right of way easement—and the size and scope of that easement—could not be resolved on summary judgment due to unresolved factual disputes; in particular, Mr. Nayeri relied on expert reports showing the geological character of the Property did not preclude development and that the municipal code contained exceptions that would allow development to proceed. Op. at 220, ¶¶19-22.

The trial court acknowledged that the case presented many unresolved factual questions, including "whether [an easement] is even possible to be done, where it's going to be, how much it's going to be, [and] what is the burden to the condemned property." (1/27/23 RP 41); see Op. 221-22, ¶¶23-24. Yet rather than deny summary judgment and conduct factfinding, the trial court ruled that Mr. Nayeri was not entitled to a private way of necessity because he

had purportedly not proven the feasibility of either the easement itself or the proposed development project on the Property. (*See* 1/27/23 RP 41: "I think the other ducks need to be lined up before you get this[.]")

Specifically, the trial court believed that Mr. Nayeri needed to acquire permits from the City—not just for the easement, but for the *entire project*—before he was entitled to a private right of way of necessity. (1/27/23 RP 33-34: "[I]t just seems like before I'm going to actually burden private property with private condemnation that I need to know that something is actually going to be able to be done with it[.]"); Op. at 220-21, ¶¶23-24. The trial court ruled that, absent that evidence, Mr. Nayeri was not entitled to a private way of necessity as a matter of law and granted Lowe's motion, dismissing Mr. Nayeri's claims as to all defendants. (CP 593-94); Op. at 221, ¶24.

On April 30, 2024, the Court of Appeals, Division Two, reversed in a published decision, holding that the unresolved factual disputes acknowledged by the trial court precluded summary judgment. Op. at 224, ¶41 ("[W]e hold that there was a genuine dispute of material fact as to whether it was legally possible to develop the property and develop access through a neighboring property.") Division Two also rejected the petitioners' argument that a purchaser who knowingly buys landlocked property should be precluded from private condemnation as a matter of law, emphasizing that this Court rejected such a bright-line rule in Ruvalcaba v. Kwang Ho Baek, 175 Wn.2d 1, 7-8, ¶10, 282 P.3d 1083 (2012). Op. at 222-23, ¶¶31-35. Further, Division Two held that "the lack of concrete development plans does not bar private condemnation under chapter 8.24 RCW as a matter of law," recognizing "the scope of access" ultimately obtained via a private way of necessity easement "is different than the *necessity* of access." Op. at 224, ¶43.

## C. Why Review Should Be Denied.

1. Division Two correctly applied this Court's decision in *Ruvalcaba* by holding that Mr. Nayeri is not precluded from private condemnation as a matter of law because he knowingly purchased landlocked property.

The petitioners' main argument is that Mr. Nayeri cannot establish a reasonable necessity for a private right of way easement as a matter of law because he purchased the Property "with full knowledge that . . . it would be landlocked[.]" (Pet. 20) The petitioners contend that Division Two's contrary decision conflicts with this Court's decision in *Ruvalcaba*, warranting review under RAP 13.4(b)(1). (Pet. 17-26) Petitioners are wrong.

The Washington constitution protects an individual right to condemn another's private property "for private ways of necessity." Const. art. I, §16. The Legislature codified this right in chapter 8.24 RCW, which authorizes "an owner... of land which is so situate with respect to the land of another that it is necessary for its proper use and

enjoyment to have and maintain a private way of necessity" to "condemn and take lands . . . sufficient in area for . . . such private way of necessity[.]" RCW 8.24.010. These constitutional and statutory provisions reflect Washington's "overriding public policy goal against making landlocked property useless." *Ruvalcaba*, 175 Wn.2d at 8, ¶11.

In *Ruvalcaba*, this Court held that private condemnors could not seek a private way of necessity when they voluntarily landlocked their own property and waited 35 years to pursue condemnation. 175 Wn.2d 8, ¶11. In doing so, however, the Court rejected "[a] bright-line rule ... that automatically precludes a private way of necessity any time a landowner voluntarily landlocks his or her own parcel." 175 Wn.2d at 7-8, ¶10. Instead, the Court decided *Ruvalcaba* based on its facts, which—as Division Two recognized—"were fairly unique and far more extreme than the facts" here. Op. at 222, ¶34.

The Ruvalcabas "landlocked their own parcel, made claims of reasonable necessity based on financial impracticability, and waited approximately 35 years to bring a condemnation action." Ruvalcaba, 175 Wn.2d at 8, ¶11. The Ruvalcabas thus proved that an easement was not reasonably necessary on their own by waiting 35 years to seek condemnation. 175 Wn.2d at 1, ¶2 ("no reasonable finder of fact could find that there was reasonable necessity for an easement . . . where the Ruvalcabas acted to landlock their property and failed to bring a condemnation action for so many years."). Moreover, the Ruvalcabas' goal was not to develop their own property but "to manufacture a cloud on title and, thus, tie up [their neighbors'] right to use and convey their land," which was "a flagrant abuse of the reasonable necessity doctrine" that "turn[ed] our stated public policy goal on its head." 175 Wn.2d at 8, ¶11.

Consistent with *Ruvalcaba*, Division Two held that "[Mr.] Nayeri's knowing purchase of landlocked property

alone should not be the basis for summary judgment." Op. at 222, ¶34. This conclusion also aligns with other jurisdictions, which uniformly recognize that "[k]nowingly purchasing landlocked property . . . does not preclude a purchaser from obtaining a private way of necessity." Dovetail Props., Inc. v. Herron, 287 Ga. App. 808, 809, 652 S.E.2d 856 (2007); Jones v. Ransom, 184 P.3d 561, 565 (Okla. Civ. App. 2008) (affirming trial court's conclusion that condemnor established a reasonable necessity to condemn private right-of-way of necessity even though the condemnor "bought the property knowing" there was no access[.]"); Childers v. Quartz Creek Land Co., 946 P.2d 534, 535 (Colo. App. 1997) (affirming condemnation for private way of necessity even though "[a]t the time of purchase, [the condemnor] was aware that the property was 'landlocked'[.]"), cert. denied, 525 U.S. 1104 (1999); Graff v. Scanlan, 673 A.2d 1028, 1035, n.12 (Pa. Cmwlth. 1996) ("The Graffs' actions in voluntarily

creating their hardship are distinguishable from cases wherein the landowner purchases property with the knowledge that it is landlocked. In such a case, the purchaser's knowledge does not preclude" a private condemnation action.) (emphasis in original). Petitioners' arguments—not Division Two's decision—"conflict" with Ruvalcaba by advocating for the same "bright-line" rule this Court, like many others, refused to adopt.

Moreover, unlike the Ruvalcabas, Mr. Nayeri is not abusing the private condemnation process, contrary to petitioners' repeated allegations. (*See* Pet. 20-21, 27, 29) Mr. Nayeri wants to develop his property—not prevent the petitioners from using their property—thereby furthering the "overriding public policy goal against making landlocked property useless." *Ruvalcaba*, 175 wn.2d at 8, ¶11. In contrast, the petitioners argue that the Property must remain forever unused based on a bright-line rule this Court already rejected.

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